IN THE SUPREME SOURT OF FLORIDA	
DONALD PIERCE and MICHELE PIERCE, his wife,	
Petitioners, NOV No 1087	
vs. CASE NO. 71,381	L
AALL INSURANCE INCORPORATED,	
Respondent.	

REVIEW OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

John R. Overchuck (93)

Maher, Overchuck & Langa, P.A. Suite 200 90 East Livingston Street Orlando, Florida 32801 (305) 849-6510

Attorneys for Petitioners

Thomas M. Ervin Jr. Robert M. Ervin Jr. of the law firm of Ervin, Varn, Jacobs, Odom & Kitchen Post Office Drawer 1170 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 224-9135 26

Attorneys for Petitioners

Table of Citations	ii
Statement of the Case and of the Facts	1

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is a review of a decision of the district court of appeal which affirmed a summary judgment by the trial court in favor of the defendant, AALL Insurance Incorporated ("AALL"). The court of appeal certified the following question as one of great public importance: "FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE PROFESSIONAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE IS AN INSURANCE AGENT A PROFESSIONAL?" <u>Pierce</u> <u>v. AALL Insurance Inc.</u>, 12 Fla. L.W. 2001 (Fla. 5th DCA Aug. 13, 1987). This court has jurisdiction. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a) (2) (A) (v).

Donald Pierce was injured in a traffic accident with an uninsured motorist on November 1, 1982. Some time thereafter, Mr. Pierce's automobile liability insurance carrier denied him coverage for uninsured motorist limits of \$100,000/\$300,000. Mr. Pierce and his wife sued, among others, AALL, the insurance agency that sold Mr. Pierce his automobile liability insurance policy.

The action against AALL was begun in April of 1985.<sup>1</sup> Mr. and Mrs. Pierce alleged, among other things, that when Mr. Pierce applied for his automobile liability insurance policy through AALL, he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>AALL was not joined as a defendant until the filing of the second amended complaint which, according to its certificate of service, was served on the original defendants on April 2, 1985. [Record at 54] During the course of the summary judgment proceeding, counsel for AALL stated that the action against AALL was filed April 5, 1985. [Record at 13, 78] The order granting Mr. and Mrs. Pierce's motion to amend their complaint states that the second amended complaint "is hereby deemed filed as of the date of the entry of this order." The order was entered April 10, 1985. [Record at 58]

specifically requested that he be provided full coverage to adequately protect him in the event of a casualty loss or injury; and the Plaintiff relied upon the purportedly superior knowledge of AaLL [sic] regarding automobile liability and uninsured motorist insurance matters and to give him complete and honest information about his insurance options.

30. The Defendant, AaLL [sic], negligently:

(a) Failed to fully advise and explain to the Plaintiff the uninsured/underinsured motorist coverages and options available to him, as required by law;<sup>[2]</sup>

(b) Processed and completed the application for insurance, and forwarded the same to PROGRESSIVE AMERICAN INSURANCE CO., in a manner and form unauthorized by the Plaintiff and without his knowledge and consent; and

(c) Caused the policy to be issued without uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage, without the Plaintiff ever having knowingly rejected said coverage, contrary to law.<sup>[3]</sup>

2

The limits of uninsured motorist coverage shall be not less than the limits of bodily injury liability insurance purchased by the named insured, or such lower limit complying with the company's rating plan as may be selected by the named insured, but in any event the insurer shall make available, at the written request of the insured, limits up to \$100,000 each person, \$300,000 each occurrence, irrespective of the limits of bodily injury liability purchased, in compliance with the company's rating plan.

Fla. Stat. § 627.727(2)(1981)

3

No automobile liability insurance covering liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle shall be delivered or issued for delivery in this state with respect to any motor vehicle registered or principally garaged in this state unless coverage is provided therein or supplemental Mr. and Mrs. Pierce further alleged that the signature on the insurance application rejecting uninsured motorist coverage, although purported to be, was not the signature of Mr. Pierce. [Record at 84-86, 89-90, 96-97]

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of AALL upon a holding that (1) the two-year statute of limitations for professional malpractice<sup>4</sup> applied to Mr. and Mrs. Pierce's action against AALL and (2) Mr. and Mrs. Pierce discovered or should have discovered their cause of action against AALL more than two years prior to filing their action. In doing so, the trial court rejected Mr. and Mrs. Pierce's arguments, first,

thereto for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness, or disease, including death, resulting therefrom. However, the coverage required under this section shall not be applicable when, or to the extent that, any insured named in the policy shall reject the coverage.

Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1)(1981)

4

Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows:

• • • •

(4) WITHIN TWO YEARS.--

(a) An action for professional malpractice, other than medical malpractice, whether founded on contract or tort; provided that the period of limitations shall run from the time the cause of action is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence. However, the limitation of actions herein for professional malpractice shall be limited to persons in privity with the professional.

Fla. Stat. § 95.11(4)(a)(1983)

that the professional malpractice statute of limitations does not apply to negligence suits against insurance agents and, second, that the professional malpractice statute of limitations, if applicable to negligence suits against insurance agents, is vague as to its application and, therefore, void, both on its face and as applied. [Record at 105-10]

Addressing only the former argument, the court of appeal affirmed the summary judgment. In doing so, the court of appeal stated,

Rather than look to the title of the person being sued it is better now to look to the act done which injures. If the act is one which involves giving advice, using superior knowledge and training of a technical nature, or imparting instruction and recommendations in the learned arts then the act is one of a professional. . .

Here the act was failing to give proper advice by one of superior training, knowledge and experience. That is an act of one who is within Webster's definition of profession, "a calling requiring specialized knowledge and often long and intensive academic preparation." <u>Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary</u> (1979). The plaintiffs/appellants chose their cause of action and defined the tort as one of failing to give proper advice. That sounds just like professional malpractice. It is professional malpractice.

<u>Pierce</u>, 12 Fla. L.W. at 2001.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An insurance agent is not a professional for purposes of the professional malpractice statute of limitations. The courts below have ignored the well-settled rule of statutory construction that statutes will not be held to have changed common-law principles by implication, unless the implication is clear or is necessary to give full force to the express provisions of the statute and the public policy thus expressed. In extending the professional malpractice statute of limitations to encompass the negligence of insurance salesmen, the courts below have overlooked the common-law definition of "professional malpractice," the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations, and the history of Florida's professional malpractice statute of limitations. This is an action for negligence, and is, therefore, governed by the four-year statute of limitations for negligence actions. If the professional malpractice statute of limitations is extended to bar Mr. and Mrs. Pierce's cause of action against AALL, the professional malpractice statute of limitations would be unconstitutionally vague, because persons of common understanding and intelligence would not previously have been on notice that "professional malpractice" encompasses the negligence of an insurance salesman. The statute should not, therefore, be so applied.

### ARGUMENT

## AN INSURANCE AGENT IS NOT A PROFESSIONAL FOR PURPOSES OF THE PROFESSIONAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

The trial court and the court of appeal have taken a simple lawsuit against an insurance agency, premised upon the negligence of one of its salesmen in failing to provide to a customer a statutorily-imposed opportunity to select or reject uninsured motorist coverage, and through a fantastic fiat of jurisprudential alchemy, have transformed the salesman's per se negligence into professional malpractice. By extending the professional malpractice statute of limitations, as they have, to the negligence of an insurance salesman, the courts below have overlooked the common-law meaning of "professional malpractice," the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations, and the history of Florida's professional malpractice statute of limitations.

The professional malpractice statute of limitations does not define "professional malpractice," nor is "professional malpractice" defined elsewhere in the Florida Statutes. One must look elsewhere for what the legislature contemplated when it first enacted Florida's professional malpractice statute of limitations in 1974. <u>See ch. 74-382, § 7, 1974 Fla. Laws</u> 1207, 1211. In doing so, a well-settled rule of statutory construction must be kept in mind: statutes will not be applied in derogation of the common law, nor held to have changed common-law

6

Ι

principles, by implication, unless the implication is clear or is necessary to give full force to the express provisions of the statute and the public policy thus expressed. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Dudley v. Harrison, McCready & Co.</u>, 127 Fla. 687, 694, 173 So. 820, 823 (1937); <u>In re Estate of Levy</u>, 141 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962). An examination of the common-law meaning of "professional malpractice," and of the history and public policy of the professional malpractice statute of limitations, demonstrates that, contrary to the result in the courts below, the legislature did not intend the professional malpractice statute of limitations to encompass the negligence of insurance salesmen.

Historically, in Florida as in other jurisdictions, lawsuits characterized as "professional malpractice" actions have involved suits against persons engaged in the practice of law or medicine. <u>See, e.g., Hine v. Fox</u>, 89 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1956); <u>Foster v. Thornton</u>, 125 Fla. 699, 170 So. 459 (1936); <u>St. Paul Fire & Marine Insurance</u> <u>Co. v. Icard, Merrill, Cullis & Timm, P.A.</u>, 196 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2d DCA), <u>cert. denied mem</u>., 201 So. 2d 897 (Fla. 1967); <u>Couch v.</u> <u>Hutchison</u>, 135 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). Indeed, courts have held that the common meaning and common-law definition of "professional malpractice" is "limited to professional misconduct of members of the medical profession and attorneys." <u>Richardson v. Doe</u>, 176 Ohio St. 370, 372, 199 N.E.2d 878, 880 (1964); <u>accord</u> <u>Cordial v. Grimm</u>, 169 Ind. App. 58, 67-68, 346 N.E.2d 266, 272 (1976); <u>Sam v. Balardo</u>, 411 Mich. 405, 419, 424-25, 308 N.W. 2d 142, 147, 150 (1981). As stated by the court in <u>Isenstein</u>

### v. Malcomson, 227 A.D. 66, 236 N.Y.S. 641 (1929),

[M]alpractice is to be considered in its primary meaning, and as generally understood by the ordinarily intelligent and reasonably informed person, and, in this respect, according to such common usage and acceptance, it has continuously been intended to import an improper treatment or culpable neglect of a patient by a physician or surgeon. As an added significance it has been used to indicate a corrupt or culpably incompetent practitioner of either law or medicine.

Id. at 68, 236 N.Y.S. at 643. As explained by the court in

## <u>Richardson</u>,

Today, the term, malpractice, is sometimes used loosely to refer to the negligence of a member of any professional group. However, legally and technically, it is still subject to the limited common-law definition. It is well established that where a statute uses a word which has a definite meaning at common law, it will be presumed to be used in that sense and not in the loose popular sense.

<u>Richardson</u>, 176 Ohio St. at 372-73, 199 N.E.2d at 880.

There is no indication that, in enacting the professional malpractice statute of limitations, the legislature intended to alter this common meaning and common-law definition of "professional malpractice." Much less is there any indication that the legislature intended to include the negligence of an insurance salesman within that definition. This conclusion is supported both by the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations and the history of Florida's professional malpractice statute of limitations.

In order to understand the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations, it is helpful to consider what is meant by "profession," as opposed to "vocation," "occupation," "business" or "trade." As explained by Roscoe Pound,

A profession is a group of men pursuing a learned art as a common calling in the spirit of public service--no less a public service because incidentally it may be a means of livelihood. The exigencies of the economic order require most persons to gain a livelihood and the gaining of a livelihood is a purpose to which they are constrained to devote their activities. But while in all walks of life men must bear this in mind, in business and trade it is the primary purpose. In a profession, on the other hand, it is an incidental purpose, pursuit of which is held down by traditions of a chief purpose to which the organized activities of those pursuing the calling are to be directed primarily and by which the individual activities of the practitioner are to be restrained and guided. A profession, such as the ministry, medicine, law, teaching, is much more than a calling which has a certain traditional dignity. Certain other callings in recent times have achieved or claim a like dignity, but lack the essential primary purpose. For example, if an engineer discovers a new process or invents a new mechanical device he may obtain a patent and retain for himself a profitable monopoly. If, on the other hand, a physician discovers a new specific for a disease or a surgeon invents a new surgical procedure, they each publish their discovery or invention to the profession and so to the world. If a lawyer has learned through research or experience something useful to the profession and so to the administration of justice he publishes it in a legal periodical or expounds it before a bar association or in a lecture to law students. It is not his property. He may publish it in a copyrighted book and so have rights to the literary form in which he put it. But the process or method or developed principle he has worked out belongs to the world.

• • • •

. . . in its idea and in its history a profession is a body of learned men pursuing a learned art. Learning is one of the qualities which sets off a profession from a vocation or occupation. Professions are learned from the nature of the art professed. But they have also a cultural ideal side which furthers the exercise of the art. Problems of human relations in society, problems of disease, problems of the upright life guided by religion are to be dealt with by the resources of cultivated intelligence by lawyer, physician and clergyman.

5 R. Pound, <u>Jurisprudence</u> § 151, at 676-79 (1959) (footnote omitted);

accord R. Pound, The Lawyer from Antiquity to Modern Times 4-6, 8-10 (1953).

The idea of a "professional," then, is inharmonious with the business, occupation, vocation or trade of selling policies of insurance. Moreover, it is particularly incongruous to apply the professional malpractice statute of limitations to the negligence of an insurance salesman when the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations is considered. As explained by the court in <u>Richardson</u>,

It is the misfortune of both physicians and lawyers that, in a very considerable proportion of their cases, they are unable to accomplish the purpose desired. The general public often fails to realize that circumstances over which these persons have no control may make it impossible for them to accomplish what they set out to do. Since physicians must often fail to fulfill expectations, they, along with lawyers, are peculiarly susceptible to the charge of failure in the performance of their professional duties.

With the passage of time it becomes more and more difficult for a physician to establish that he exercised due care in performing his services. If sufficient time elapses, it may be impossible to determine whether the present physical condition of a person is the result of a lack of care and skill in prior treatment or the result of factors unrelated to treatment.

<u>Richardson</u>, 170 Ohio St. at 372, 199 N.E.2d at 879-80; <u>accord</u> 2 T. Cooley, <u>A Treatise on the Law of Torts</u> 1387 (3d ed. 1906); <u>see also M. Bigelow, The Law of Torts</u> 125 (8th ed. 1907) ("[A] person who enters a learned profession . . . does not undertake, if an attorney, that he will gain a cause at all events, or, if a physician, that he will effect a cure.")(footnote omitted).

In <u>Richardson</u>, as here, the court was confronted with a professional malpractice statute of limitations which did not

define "professional malpractice." The court in <u>Richardson</u> concluded that, in enacting a professional malpractice statute of limitations, the state legislature contemplated only members of the legal and medical professions because of their particular susceptibility to "unwarranted and fraudulent claims which would be difficult to disprove." <u>Richardson</u>, 170 Ohio St. at 372, 199 N.E.2d at 880. There is nothing to indicate that the motives of the Florida Legislature were any different.

Prior to its 1974 enactment, there was no statute of limitations in Florida for "professional malpractice." Actions for professional malpractice were encompassed, if stated in terms of negligence, within the general four-year statute of limitations for non-specified causes of action, and if stated in terms of an oral promise to perform, within the three-year statute of limitations for oral contracts. See Manning v. Serrano, 97 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1957); see, e.g., Fla. Rev. Stat. § 1294 (1892); Fla. Gen. Stat. § 1725 (1906); Fla. Rev. Gen. Stat. § 2939 (1920); Fla. Stat. § 95.11 (1941); Fla. Stat. § 95.11 (1973). In 1967, the legislature enacted a four-year statute of limitations encompassing "any action brought against a professional engineer or registered architect for bodily injury, wrongful death or injury to property" for or arising out of any deficiency in design or planning of an improvement to real property. Coupled with this four-year statute of limitations, which was of the same length as the statute applicable to negligence, was a statute of repose imposing an absolute bar twelve years from the date of substantial completion

of construction or termination of the contract. Ch. 67-284, 1967 Fla. Laws 811. This statute of repose, which was later extended to encompass "licensed contractors," ch. 74-382, § 7, 1974 Fla. Laws 1207, 1210, was apparently enacted in response to a perceived threat of perpetual and unfair liability, <u>see</u> ch. 80-322, 1980 Fla. Laws 1389, 1390, but cannot be read to have altered the common-law definition of "professional malpractice," a term that is nowhere mentioned in the legislation, nor relevant to its scope and goals.

Nor can the enactment in 1971 of the short-lived two-year statute of limitations for actions "to recover damages for injuries to the person arising from any medical, dental, optometric, podiatric or chiropractic treatment or surgical operation," ch. 71-254, 1971 Fla. Laws 1372, be read to have altered the common-law meaning of "professional malpractice." That statute, which was repealed in 1974 with the enactment of the professional malpractice statute of limitations, <u>see</u> ch. 74-382, § 7, 1974 Fla. Laws 1207, 1209, signifies nothing other than the fact that the public policy behind professional malpractice statutes of limitations was, in Florida, extended to members of the medical profession several years prior to being extended to lawyers.

In 1974, the two-year professional malpractice statute of limitations was enacted, as follows:

Section 7: Section 95.11, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: (substantial rewording of section; See Florida Statutes 95.11 for present text.)

95.11 Limitations other than for the recovery of real property.--Actions other than for recovery of real property shall be commenced as follows:

. . . .

(4) WITHIN TWO YEARS.--

(a) An action for professional malpractice, whether founded on contract or tort; provided that the period of limitations shall run from the time the cause of action is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; provided, however, that the limitation of actions herein for professional malpractice shall be limited to persons in privity with the professional;

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