IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLEN

CASE

Ûb

NO

coputy Clerk

DONALD PIERCE and MICHELE PIERCE, his wife,

Petitioners,

vs.

AALL INSURANCE, INCORPORATED, a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

REVIEW OF THE QUESTION CERTIFIED BY THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

> LINDA F. WELLS CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL, SMITH, CUTLER & KENT, P.A. Post Office Box 1171 Orlando, Florida 32802 (305) 849-0300 Attorneys for Respondent

.5 50

31

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

Comment on 4.2c:

This charge is a general one to be used when it has been determined as a matter of substantive law that a nonmedical professional can be held liable for negligence. Cf. First American Title Insurance Co. v. First Title Service Co., 457 So.2d 467 (Fla. 1984) (liability of title abstracters runs only to known third party plaintiffs who may rely on opinion).

The Florida Bar re: Standard Jury Inst., 459 So.2d 1023 (Fla. 1984) at 1024.

The <u>First American</u> case cited in the comment considered the issue of whether a professional negligence action against a title abstracter was available to persons other than those in privity with the title abstracter. This Court decided that the abstracter's duty to perform his service skillfully runs to third parties expected to rely on the survey. The Court consistently characterized the alleged negligence of the title abstracting firm as "professional negligence", and also noted "the particular expert-client relationship accruing to a professional contract to certify the condition of the record of

-13-

title . . . " <u>First American Title Insurance Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 471. It is worthy of note that the title abstracters in that case operated in an insurance context, and that title abstracters are typically non-lawyers.

The legislative intent at issue here was to write a professional malpractice statute capable of responding to the current status of the law and current realities of professional conduct and misconduct.

Pierce's third argument seems to be that because an insurance agent sells insurance in the course of his work, that work is not "professional" and to include the agent within this statute would demean other professions and the concept of "professional". Of course, all professionals "sell" services, products or both.

Moreover, the law has already imposed upon insurance agents a high level of responsibility, a professional standard of care. Early actions against insurance agents found liability only when the agent and client agreed to all terms of the requested coverage, and the agent failed to obtain it (or advise the client he could not procure the coverage), <u>Neida's Boutique, Inc. v. Gabor and</u> <u>Company</u>, 348 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Insurance agents are now held legally accountable for the accuracy and completeness of their professional advice. <u>Woodham</u>

-14-

<u>v. Moore</u>, 428 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); <u>Seascape of</u> <u>Hickory Pt. v. Associated Ins.</u>, 443 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

In the latter case, the Second District Court of Appeal discussed cases from other jurisdictions in which agents had allegedly given improper or inadequate advice, and then said:

> Each of the cases discussed above recognized that there can be circumstances under which an insurance broker has a duty to volunteer advice to his client. If this be so, would not a broker under equivalent circumstances have a greater duty to render correct advice when it was given? Appellees seem to argue that they cannot be liable for faulty advice because they received no consideration in exchange for the advice. Admittedly, appellant did not pay for the advice it now asserts was negligently given. The appellees only would have obtained consideration for their efforts by receiving a portion of the premium on the insurance if it had been written. Yet, this is the customary way for insurance brokers to make their living. If they hold themselves out as experts on the subject of insurance, they ought to be held responsible for negligently giving the wrong advice.

> The relationship between the parties in this case was not materially different from that which exists when an injured person seeks advice from a lawyer with respect to whether he has a cause of action for damages. In <u>Togstad v.</u> <u>Vesely, Otto, Miller & Keefe</u>, 291 N.W. 2d 686 (Minn.1980), Mrs. Togstad consulted a law firm concerning the possibility of pursuing a malpractice claim. No

fee arrangements were discussed, no medical authorizations were requested, and Mrs. Togstad was not billed for the interview. The lawyers erroneously told her that she did not have a case. Relying upon this advice, she did not talk to another lawyer until a year later, at which time the statute of limitations had already expired. In affirming a judgment for damages against the lawyers, the court concluded that an attorney-client relationship existed between the parties under which the lawyers could be liable for damages suffered by Mrs. Togstad in reliance upon their negligent advice.

We hold that the second amended complaint sufficiently alleges a relationship between the parties from which it could be said that the appellees owed a duty to appellant to exercise reasonable care in rendering advice on insurance matters. The appellees held themselves out as professional insurance planners. They had served appellant's insurance needs for several years. The appellant came to them for specific advice. A statement that no seawall insurance is available is manifestly different from one which says that appellees cannot obtain seawall insurance. If appellees reasonably should have known their advice is to be incorrect and appellant relied upon such advice to its detriment, appellant has a valid claim for damages.

Seascape of Hickory Point v. Associated Insurance, 443 So.2d 488 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) at 491.

Agents may even be held liable for placing clients with a financially unstable insurer. <u>Glades Oil Co. v.</u> <u>R.A.I. Management, Inc.</u>, 510 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). The courts hold insurance agents to a standard of care which dictates their inclusion within the malpractice limitation statute.

Determination of the applicable statutory limitation period for an action depends on the claim for relief stated. Manning v. Serrano, 97 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1957). The essence of Pierce's Complaint is that Aall negligently failed to advise Pierce about his insurance options. This alleged malpractice occurred in the context of a clientagent relationship of privity, wherein Pierce consulted Aall, relied on Aall's expertise and to give him proper advice about his insurance, and asked Aall to procure his insurance coverage based on that advice. The relationship of privity, the superior knowledge of the professional, the giving of advice, and the reliance by the client to his alleged detriment provide the classic elements of malpractice.

To consider this action one for professional malpractice appropriately follows the professional standards to which agents are held and the claim for relief stated. There is no legal insult to other professionals in such holding.

Pierce argues throughout the brief that insurance is not, and by inference cannot be, a learned profession, and the malpractice statute cannot, therefore, apply. Under that reasoning, no action against an insurance agent can

-17-

be considered malpractice, regardless of the act complained of and the relationship between the parties.

Yet, as previously argued, there is no indication that the Legislature intended to exclude insurance agents from the malpractice limitation period. Nor is there evidence that only learned professions were to be included. Optometry, for example, appears to have been covered by the statute, a calling much appreciated but not generally regarded as "learned."

In <u>Cristich v. Allen Engineering, Inc.</u>, 458 So.2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the Fifth District Court focused its inquiry on the professional nature of the act complained of and the relationship between the parties in finding the preparation of a survey to be a professional act. (The Fourth District found to the contrary in <u>Toledo Park</u> Homes v. Grant, 447 So.2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984).

In this case, the District Court again focused on the nature of the act complained of, stating:

Rather than look to the title of the person being sued it is better now to look to the act done which injures. If the act is one which involves giving advice, using superior knowledge and training of a technical nature, or imparting instruction and recommendations in the learned arts then the act is one of a professional. One person, a professional, can do two different acts: one of a professional nature, the other not. For example, a doctor while treating a

-18-

patient for the gout can tell him about a hot stock-market tip. If that tip does not provide profit it can hardly be said that the doctor committed professional malpractice, any more than a broker's attempt to treat gout can be deemed such malpractice. There are shadings between various acts, and persons performing them.

Here the act was failing to give proper advice by one of superior training, knowledge and experience. That is an act of one who is within Webster's definition of profession, "a calling requiring specialized knowledge and often long and intensive academc preparation." Webster's New Collegiate Dictionary (1979). The plaintiffs/appellants chose their cause of action and defined the tort as one of failing to give proper advice. That sounds just like professional malpractice. It is professional malpractice.

<u>Pierce v. Aall Insurance, Incorporated</u>, 513 So.2d 160 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) at 161. In <u>Panther Air Boat</u> <u>Corporation v. MacMillan-Buchanan & Kelly Insurance</u> <u>Agency</u>, 12 FLW 2312 (Fla. 5th DCA October 2, 1987), the Fifth District considered for the third time what constitutes a professional malpractice action for purposes of the limitation statute. Judge Upchurch wrote:

> The term "profession" varies with the context in which it is used. In Black's Law Dictionary, the following definition appears:

> Profession. A vocation or occupation requiring special, usually advanced, education and skills, e.g., law or medi-

> > -19-

cal professionals. The term originally contemplated only theology, law and medicine, but as applications of science and learning are extended to other departments of affairs, other vocations also received the name, which implies professed attainments in special knowledge as distinguished from mere skill.

Black's Law Dictionary 1089 (rev. 5th ed. 1979).

In Webster's the noun "professional" is defined as one who engages in a pursuit or activity often engaged in by amateurs as well as one engaged in one of the learned callings. Webster's Third New International Dictionary 1811 (17th ed. 1976). Thus, we have professional actors, boxers, golfers, tennis and football players, etc. The distinction being that they are so engaged for financial remuneration rather than for sport or pleasure, i.e., amateurs. Others are engaged in activities for remuneration which are not traditionally thought of as "professional", for example, mechanics, electricians, plumbers, real estate agents, bankers, investment counselors, appraisers, yacht surveyors, etc., and whose skill, counsel and judgment is actively sought and relied upon by lay members of the community. Into this latter class, we believe that insurance agents also fall. Then there are the traditional "professionals", those engaged in a profession, such as doctors, lawyers, theologians.

In <u>Critsch v. Allen Engineering</u>, Inc., 458 So.2d 76 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), we held that a land surveyor is a professional for purposes of section 95.11. We can find no rational distinction between that occupation and the one in issue here. In this instance, Panther bases its claim on the MacMillan's failure to properly advise and obtain the necessary coverage for its business. It therefore becomes obvious that Panther was relying on the special skill and training of MacMillan and its claim is caught squarely by the statute. We also think that to hold the statute applied only to lawyers, doctors, and theologians would render the section subject to serious constitutional attack as being discriminatory because we can think of no rational reason for applying a two year statute of limitation period for only the traditional "professional" but a four year period for all others upon whose judgment, skill and training people equally rely.

Id., at 2312-3.

With respect to the preparation of an insurance agent for his work, Florida Statutes set <u>minimum</u> requirements, beyond which most agents proceed. To be licensed, an insurance agent must prove professional competency in an examination conducted by the State of Florida. As noted elsewhere in this brief, the scope of insurance agent work set forth at 626.031-626.041 Fla. Stat. (1981) includes "advising or giving opinions" as to insurance or insurance contracts.

Licensing and examination procedures and requirements for insurance agents are established in 626.112 Fla. Stat. (1981), <u>et</u>. <u>seq</u>., and the qualifications to sit for examination are covered at 626.728-626.732 Fla. Stat. (1981). The experience and education which must be demonstrated to qualify for examination are further delineated in

-21-

Florida's Administrative Code (Florida Administrative Code, 1984 Supplement Chapter 4-52), of which the lower court took judicial notice.

As is true of land surveyors, potential insurance agents may qualify to sit for the examination by education, experience, or a combination of the two. The prerequisites range from a four-year college degree in insurance with no experience, to the minimum statutory requirement of one year of full-time employment in responsible insurance duties in virtually all lines of insurance, as testified to by affidavit of the employer.

The statutory references and scope of examination are evidence of the extensive and detailed knowledge which would-be insurance agents must demonstrate to enter the increasingly complex field of insurance.

While the degree of academic preparation for an insurance agent can be less than that required of a land surveyor or a lawyer, there can be no question as to the extensive knowledge required of an agent licensed by the State of Florida to advise clients concerning their insurance needs.

Moreover, it is not so long ago that attorneys in Florida had only to pass an examination to become licensed. Those who could pass the Bar examination were,

-22-

until 1955, entitled to practice their profession. <u>LaBossiere v. Florida Board of Bar Examiners</u>, 279 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1973). It may be that only the most hardy attempted the task without formal academic training, but it was possible to do so. So it is with insurance agents.

It is the nature of the act and the closeness of the relationship, not the number of college credits, which distinguishes professional malpractice from simple negligence. Clearly, and expressly within the statute, the relationship of privity is pivotal.

The New York Supreme Court has distinguished malpractice from negligence on the basis of whether or not the professional and the person injured share a relationship of privity:

. . . it is useful to recognize as an aid in analysis that malpractice, in its strict sense, means the negligence of a member of a profession in his relations with his client or patient. . . we think that malpractice in the statutory sense describes the negligence of a professional toward the person for whom he rendered a service, and that an action for malpractice springs from the correlative rights and duties assumed by the parties through the relationship. On the other hand, the wrongful conduct of the professional in rendering services to his client resulting in injury to a party outside the relationship is simple negligence.

Cubito v. Kreisberg, 419 N.Y.S.2d 578 (N.Y. 1979).

This distinction is consistent with the requirement in Florida's malpractice statute that a relationship of privity must exist between the parties in order for the malpractice limitation to apply, whereas the negligence Statute of Limitations includes no such provision. The distinction also finds support in the fact that insurance agents may now be held legally accountable to persons outside the client relationship for their errors. <u>Hamer v.</u> <u>Kahn</u>, 404 So.2d 847 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); <u>Robinson v. John</u> <u>E. Hunt & Associates, Inc.</u>, 490 So.2d 1291 (Fla. 2st DCA 1986).

Pierce's final argument, that the statute is void for vagueness and violates due process, is beyond the scope of the certified question and not properly before the Court. Sanchez v. Wimpey, 409 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982).

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